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Introduction

This paper presents the results and prelimi-
nary conclusions from the North-eastern Petra
Survey Project (NEPP). The project is spon-
sored by the Deutsche Forschungsgemein-
schaft, the Cluster of Excellence “Topoi” and
Humboldt University in Berlin, and is co-direct-
ed by Stephan Schmid, Zbigniew T. Fiema and
Bernhard Kolb. During four fieldwork seasons
between 2011 and 2014 the project undertook
intensive survey in northeastern Petra, includ-
ing mapping of structures, surface ceramic col-
lection and the documentation of all visible ar-
chitectural fragments (see Schmid et al. 2012).

Location and Description

The NEPP survey area is located to the
northeast of the confluence of the Wadi
Matahah and the Wadi Miusa drainages, on
the high hill overlooking the eastern end of
the Colonnaded Street and directly west of
the Palace Tomb in Petra (FIG. 1). The site
measures ca. 250x180 m and is generally
known as Ruyjm Umm al-Sunaydiq. The NEPP
area enjoys a unique geo-strategic location
in the valley (FIG. 2). The site dominates the
entire city centre and its main communication
axis allowing it excellent views deep into the
outer Siq, all along the Wadi Miisa depression

Results of the North-Eastern Petra Project

and the Colonnaded Street, up to the Qasr
al-Bint and al-Habis. Likewise, the NEPP arca
is visible from all over the city centre and is
clearly the most prominent part of it. Despite
the presence of a number of large, monumental
structures in the area, these were never properly
documented and only briefly reported by the
explorers of Petra in the early 20t century
(Briinnow and von Domaszewski 1904: 318-
319, nos. 412-415, Musil 1907, map following
p. 343; Dalman 1908: 314-329; and Bachmann
etal., 1921: 32-33).

Several significant factors characterize the
NEPP area. First, the Nabatacan adaptation of
the Petra Valley for a permanent settlement
between al-Khubthah and Umm al-Biyarah
necessitated the construction of a dam and
tunnel diverting the Miusa stream from the
entrance to the Siq into a side valley (the Wadi
Mudhlim), that crosses the Khubthah massif
(Bellwald 2008: 67-73; Petra National Trust
2004). From there the water flowed through the
Wadi Matahah before returning to its original
wadi bed in the city centre. A second result of
the diversion project was that a separate quarter
of the city (in the true sense of the word)
emerged at the foot of al-Khubthah, enclosed
by the Wadi Matahah and the Wadi Miisa.
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Secondly, the monumental stairway leading
to the top of al-Khubthah which begins in the
northeastern corner of the NEPP area, north of
the Palace Tomb, provided access to the cultic
installations on top of Jabal al-Khubthah (see
Nehmé 1997: 1035-1036; Lindner et al. 1997,
Dalman 1908: 332-336). But the stairway could
also have served as an emergency exit from
the city. To access the stairway one had to pass
through the area that was topographically and
architecturally separated from the rest of the city.

Thirdly, the area is directly connected to one
of six fresh water aqueducts in Petra, the al-
Khubthah conduit, which starts in the modern
Wadi Musa (Bellwald 2008: 49-53, 87-90;
Gunsam 1997). The aqueduct enters the city at
a point in the NEPP survey area and joins with
a huge cistern, which also utilizes the water
catchment system of the Khubthah massif.

These two systems —aqueduct supply and runoff
water collection — could be used both separately
and together. This direct and exclusive access
to one of the city‘s aqueducts is particularly
notable. Finally, it is significant that at the spot
where the Khubthah massif borders the survey
area, there is the so-called Palace Tomb — the
largest and the most decorated fagade of Petra
(McKenzie 1990: 162-165).

Information entirely derived from the
survey, and interpretation of the extant remains
are seriously hindered by the fact that in many
places wall lines are obscured by considerable
stone tumble (FIG. 3). Except for the central-
eastern, eastern and the north-eastern parts of
the area, which are at the highest in elevation
and relatively flat, the ground generally slopes
down toward the surrounding wadis, featuring
an uneven, disarticulated and often very steep
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2. The NEPP area seen from the south. The Wadi Miisa drainage is in the center bottom, the Wadi Matahah in the center,
continuing north-eastward. The Petra Church is on the extreme left, overlooking the beginning of the Colonnaded

Street (by Stephan G. Schmid).

surface. Of the ten large, ruined, multi-roomed
structures, or tight clusters of rooms and walls
associated with numerous architectural elements
on the surface and which were mapped during
the survey (FIG. 4), eight are located on these
slopes. Judging from the dimensions of all
the structures and their apparent architectural
decoration, there is little doubt that most were
buildings of monumental proportions and
appearance. Significantly, there seems to be
no common orientation for these buildings,
rather they follow the topographical contours
of the terrain, being dispersed throughout the
area with little apparent functional connection
between each other. Nevertheless, judging
from the analysis presented above, there is
good reason to treat all these structures as a
meaningful architectural complex, rather than
as distinct and unrelated components of the
overall habitation history in this area of Petra.

The most significant among these structures are
briefly described here:

Structure 1 is ca. 3020 m and is located
at the western tip of the area. It consists of two
major rooms in alignment and abutted on the
north by two smaller rooms. Inside one of the
larger rooms, a column is still standing in situ,
implying that this was a courtyard (FIG. 5).
In both main rooms, architectural members
of different sizes were found, indicating an
upper storey, a fact supported by considerable
stone tumble. It is also clear that some major
decorative elements had been reused in a
secondary function and location. Directly
outside the southern wall of the building there are
several monumental door jambs with pilasters
decorated with vine-and-scroll motif (FIG. 6),
yet currently there is no indication of any door
in this wall. So these blocks were either reused
or the door was blocked. Considering the size of

749 —



ZBIGNIEW T. FIEMA, ET AL.

e

e
P, ER

3. The NEPP area seen from the we
upper right (by Stephan G. Schmid).

some of the elements inside or directly outside
the building it is also uncertain how these could
have been accommodated in the structure in its
extant form. Therefore, Structure 1 probably
underwent at least two major occupational
phases and the earlier one could have ended in a
significant disaster. In the first phase Structure 1
was probably a rectangular building consisting
of one large rectangular hall (currently two
major rooms) with an entrance presumably
in the eastern wall, flanked by two smaller,
tower-like rooms. The external corners were
decorated with quarter columns and shallow
pilasters. Another door might have been in the
southern wall, flanked by large floral-decorated
door jambs. Surface ceramics and stylistic
dating of architectural elements indicate a date
in the 1st century AD (FIG. 7). Elements from
the presumed upper storey include fragments of
small capitals and pilaster capitals with floral
decoration and acanthus leaves. These closely

st. Structure 1 is in the center, Structure 2 in the center left. The Palace Tomb is in the

resemble similar capitals from the “Palazzo
delle Colonne” in Ptolemais, where they were
used for an aedicula fagade in the upper storey
of the palace (on similar capitals from Petra,
Alexandria and Ptolemais, see McKenzie 1990;
2007: 80-118). The size, organization and
architectural features of Structure 1 indicate
an outstanding building. Whatever disaster
affected the early building phase the ground
plan and the decorative design were evidently
changed later on. The southern entrance, if it
was ever there, was abandoned and the building
was divided into two main, extant rooms.
Structure 2 measures ca. 40x30 m and is
located in the northern part of the NEPP area,
roughly parallel to the course of the Wadi
Matahah. Numerous architectural blocks found
at this site include column drums and door
jambs, and an impressive array of decorative
elements, such as triglyph and metope blocks,
pilasters and other decorative elements of en-
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tablature (FIG. 8). Characteristic of Structure
2 is the consistent and unmixed use of archi-
tectural decoration. Decorative elements seem
to follow the same homogeneous concept dat-
able to the 1st century AD, with parallels easily
found in the Qasr al-Bint temple and the luxuri-
ous villa of az-Zantur IV. In order to occupy a
prominent spot overlooking the Wadi Matahah,
the building was constructed on a massive sub-
structure. The main facade is located on the
northern side (FIG. 9) where two entrances
(one monumental) were also located. The main,
central component of Structure 2 is a large,
asymmetrical rectangle featuring a colonnade
running north-south,, which possibly turned
eastward, having an L-shaped plan. The rect-
angular room was flanked by two large rooms
or spaces and the colonnade features uniform
columns crowned by Nabataean capitals. The
western room was accessible through a passage

4. The plan of the NEPP architectural complex (by Maija Holappa and Jana Falkenberg).

in the colonnade. The eastern room, possibly a
triclinium or courtyard, had a black-and-white
mosaic floor (FIG. 10). This combination of
rooms resembles the representative banqueting
halls of the Nabatacan mansion on az-Zantiir
IV (Kolb 2012: 235-236; 2007: 167-168; 2003:
234), modelled on prototypes provided by Hel-
lenistic palaces (Vossing 2004: 101-102; Ho-
epfner 1996: passim, especially 13—-15) and
also attested to in a slightly modified form at
Masada (e.g., Netzer 1991: 145-148 and plan
17, 195 and plan 2, 336-338, 559-604). The
existence of a second storey is certain, as ex-
emplified by the different sizes of columns and
numerous fragments of architectural decoration
of the highest quality. A room to the south of
the monumental staircase had its own staircase
arranged around the central core, a type popu-
lar not only in Petra but also throughout the re-
gion, including the Hasmonean and Herodian
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5. Structure 1 seen from the east (by Zbigniew T. Fiema).

palaces (Negev 1973). The staircase probably
provided access to different levels of the struc-
ture. A large room, which stretches along the
entire western width of Structure 2, appears to
be an open courtyard, seemingly without a col-
onnade. Several blocks decorated with triglyph
and metope design indicate that the western
wall of that room had a richly decorated fagade
(FIG. 11). The room also yielded a large num-
ber of door jambs, probably from doors located
on both sides of the stairway, giving access to
lateral rooms on different levels. In contrast
to Structure 1, there is much less evidence for
substantial changes, restorations or redefinition
of space. If the same disaster as postulated for
the demise of Structure 1 also affected Struc-
ture 2, either the impact was catastrophic and
the building was never restored, or, less likely,
the building was restored with a minimum of

structural and decorative changes.

Structure 3 is situated along the Wadi Miisa
drainage, in the southern part of the NEPP area.

It is a building ca. 25 m long constructed
on massive substructures on the steep slope
overlooking the wadi (FIG. 12). The building
consists of two levels. A long gangway is
located on the higher, rear face of the structure.
The lower level is occupied by a very long and
relatively narrow paved space with a colonnade
on the southern edge and a semi-circular niche
at the eastern end of the space. The large number
of marble slabs found on the surface (both white
and polychrome) highlight the representative
character of Structure 3 (FIG. 13). Structure
3 is clearly an integral component of a larger
architectural entity, probably a monumental,
representative fagade for the eastern part of the
NEPP architectural complex, facing the Wadi
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Miisa, where the main communication axis of
the ancient city was located.

Structure 9 was already described by early
explorers of Petra and interpreted as a “small
theatre” but this interpretation is not supported
by the NEPP investigations. Instead, Structure
9 appears to be a lavishly decorated, leisure-
related pavilion (FIG. 14). The structure is
located exactly at a point in Petra’s topography
where the north-south approach axis from

6. Decorated door-jambs of
Structure 1 (by Marco
Dehner).

the outer Siq is dramatically changed into a
more east-west axis of the center of the city,
as represented by the orientation of the NEPP
area and the Colonnaded Street. Therefore, the
main function of Structure 9 was to visually
ease the change in the axiality of the area.
The visually pleasing transition from the
straight into the perpendicular perspective is
furthermore underlined by the overall design of
the building, its elegant internal appearance and
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8. Internal corner block featuring a double semi-colonette, in the stone tumble of Structure 2 (by Marco Dehner).
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10. The black and white mosaic tesserae from Structure 2 (by Stephan G. Schmid).
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the decoration. Unlike conventional theaters,
Structure 9 appears to have been open in the
front. The stylobate, which encloses the front,
presumably carried a row of columns with a
continuous architrave on the top. The building
itself is not a perfect semicircle, as previously
reconstructed, but rather appears as a ‘teardrop’
in shape, with the northwest half being a full
quarter-circle but the southeast half being
somewhat ‘flattened’ and elongated — again
an intentional visual effect. No elements, such
as steps, seats, cunei, which could indicate a
theatrical function, were noticed during the
survey. Rather, the interior was divided into
two zones: the lower zone, which occupies the
largest space, and the upper zone, which appears
as a rounded walkway along the external wall.
Some 3-dimensional decorative elements, such
as semicircular niches (FIG. 15) and water
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11. The metope with the plain disk from Structure 2 (by Stephan G. Schmid).

basins, were inserted into the inner wall of the
structure. It is apparent that in addition to the
interplay of light and shadow, water also played
an important decorative role in the building.
Collected surface finds include a number of
thin (ca. 0.7-1.2 cm) marble fragments, which
must have formed decoration attached to the
walls of the structure.

As mentioned above, the NEPP area was
well supplied with water, and the water-related
installations such as basins, cisterns and
channels, are well evidenced in the architectural
remains. Forexample, installation WS1 isawell-
defined water distributor (castellum divisorum)
located in the south-central part of the area (FIG.
16). It features two major phases: in the first
phase, water was channelled into a large basin,
probably a settling tank, from where it was
distributed elsewhere through a single outlet;
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12. Structure 3 seen from the south (by Marco Dehner).

in the second phase, two well-built masonry
water channels were inserted into the basin,
with outlets conducting water in two different
directions. The entire installation is a very good
example of water distribution methods in an
urban area. W2 is a water installation located
on a steep slope in the western part of the NEPP
area. It consists of two large basins located one
next to each other but on different levels. Both
basins feature waterproof mortar. Apparently,
the upper basin served as a settling tank for the
rainwater.

All NEPP ceramics were surface collected
and thus the reliability of this material for
reconstructing the overall chronology of the
area must necessarily remain tentative. The
vast majority of sherds date to the Nabataean
period, that is, the later 1st century BC to the
Ist century AD. Structure 1 provided the latest
datable ceramics, which may date to the 4th
or even the early 5th century. Combined with
the stylistic dating of many of the architectural

decorative elements found on the surface it is
reasonable to presume that the construction
and main occupation phase of structures in the
NEPP area should be dated between the late 1st
century BC to the end of the 1st century AD.
The presence of imported ceramics, such as
Eastern terra sigillata (FIG. 17) is also notable,
especially in terms of the relatively large
quantities of the collected material.

Analysis

The unique characteristics of location, the
apparent monumentality of the extant structures,
the high quality architectural decorative
elements and the abundance of luxurious
ceramics imply that the NEPP architectural
complex may be interpreted as a spectacular
palatial quarter, notimprobably of the Nabataean
monarchs. Surprisingly, the royal residences
of Petra have not been a major focus of recent
research (see Schmid et al., 2012 for update),
although Flavius Josephus (J414, 4 [16], BJ

- 757 —



ZBIGNIEW T. FIEMA, ET AL.

13. Fragments of marble slabs found in the area of Structure 3 (by Stephan G. Schmid).

1, 2 [125]) implied that by the mid-1st century
BC, Petra was considered a capital city where
their kings resided. Recently, several scholars
have proposed that the complex in the centre of
Petra, formed by the so-called “Great Temple”
and the “Paradeisos” (a luxurious garden
and water installation), is part of the official
Nabataean royal residential suite, and leisure
complex (Kropp 2009; Bedal 2003: 171-185;
Schluntz 1999: passim). This hypothesis may
need to be reconsidered, however, in light of
the NEPP fieldwork results. Notably, the term
ta Paciieln, used by Josephus, does not only
designate a ‘palace’ where the king resided, but
also implies the existence of an entire area of
a city where the royal quarters, administration,
cultic installations etc. were concentrated. This
is especially, although not exclusively, true

concerning the residences of the Hellenistic
rulers in the eastern Mediterranean and the
Near East (Funck 1996, and esp. Nielsen
1994). Furthermore, the results of the
International Wadi Farasah Project (IWFP),
which is exploring the so-called Soldier’s Tomb
complex in Petra, convincingly demonstrated
that the appearance and the functioning of these
funerary complexes must be closely related
to the luxury architecture of the Hellenistic
and Roman Mediterranean, that is, to the rich
villae and palaces (Schmid 2009). It is therefore
logical to assume that the examples of opulent
and monumental residences of the Ptolemies,
Seleucids and Romans would be mirrored not
only in the Nabataean funerary architecture but
also in the residences of the Nabataean elites,
including the royal family.
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14. Structure 9 seen from the south-west. The stylobate is visible in the center (by Marco Dehner).

15. A decorative niche in the
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inner wall of Structure 9 (by Marco Dehner).
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16. The water distribution installation in the south-central part of the NEPP complex (by Marco Dehner).
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17. Sherds of Eastern terra sigillata ware found in the NEPP area (by Stephan G. Schmid).
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Hellenistic urban royal residences seem to
follow certain rules, as demonstrated by the
examples from the Seleucid kingdom (Held
2002). The basileia quarters usually occupy
around 1/4 of the space of the city, they are built
in a location peripheral to the city centre and
are surrounded by water (sea, rivers, artificial
channels) on at least two sides. Finally, besides
the royal residence, they contain administrative
and infrastructural installations, sanctuaries,
gardens and parks as well as tombs or heroa
of the founders of the dynasty and/or the city.
These criteria fit not only the basileia of the
Seleucid kings in Antioch, Seleucia, Babylon or
Ai Khanoum, but apparently also in Alexandria
in Egypt (McKenzie 2007: 32-146, especially
66-71; Hoepfner 1999, especially 462-
464; Nielsen 1994: 130-133, 280-282). The
locational characteristics and the description
presented above, indicate that these criteria will
easily apply to the NEPP area.

On the other hand, one must acknowledge
the dispersed location of the structures in the
NEPP area, an apparent lack of symmetry in the
overall design of the complex and the presence
of seemingly unoccupied spaces within the
area. All these factors are in contrast with the
official residences of Hellenistic kings of the
basileia-type, which display a strong tendency
for orthogonal organization and well-defined
axiality, influenced by Hippodamean urbanistic
concepts. This is also true for the official
imperial residences in Rome, such the palaces
on the Palatine, which follow a more compact
spatial development, including garden areas.

Therefore, if the dispersed organization is
intentional and thus less compatible with the
layout of Hellenistic royal urban quarters, it is
practical to also consider the influence of other
types of luxurious palatial residences of the
Hellenistic-Early Roman period, among which
are the Hasmonean-Herodian countryside
residences and the late Republican-early
Imperial Roman palaces and villas of otium type.
Elements of the dispersed internal organization

A PALATIAL QUARTER IN PETRA

are featured in the Hasmonean Winter Palace
complex in Jericho (Netzer 2001) and, to a lesser
extent, the Herodian Western Palace at Masada.
The lower complex at Herodium features a
cluster of seemingly dispersed reception halls,
pavilions, service wings and living quarters, yet
these were all apparently designed according to
a single architectural grid system with the well-
defined architectural axes (Netzer 2009, 174).
There are no traces of an overall design plan in
the NEPP area.

There are other types of luxury architecture
that could be considered as providing inspiration
for the NEPP complex, for example the imperial
villae outside Rome. In particular, Domitian’s
villae at Castel Gandolfo and at Sabaudia show
the same dispersed organization, abundant use
of water installations, portico-like structures
shaping the landscape, and theatres or odeia
(Hesberg 2009; Hesberg 2005; Liverani 2008).
The huge Villa Pausilypon near Naples, built
by P. Vedius Pollio in the late 1st century
BC and later inherited by Augustus, features
similar elements (e.g., Varriale 2007; Giinther
1913). Presumably, one may envisage the
parallel temporal development of the same
characteristics in luxurious palatial residences
of otium type in Italy, in Judaea and, probably
slightly later in time, in Nabataean Petra.

Conclusions

At our current state of understanding, it
appears that the architectural complex surveyed
by NEPP combines the functional and locational
aspects of Hellenistic basileia with some
elements of luxurious Herodian residences
and Early Roman structures of otium-type.
The NEPP complex not only represented royal
power, utilizing fashionable Hellenistic-Early
Roman architectural designs and was obviously
meant to impress, but it can also be understood
as a virtual microcosm of the Nabatacan world,
combining official and utilitarian elements
with fashionable, leisure-related and traditional
aspects.
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Although the conclusions presented here
are preliminary, they demonstrate a feasible
indication of the existence of a royal residence
in Petra, spectacularly located, and of the
design and affluence undoubtedly reserved for
the highest level of Nabataean society. Further
NEPP exploration should hopefully illuminate
patterns within the political geography of Petra
during the Nabataean period. Finally, the project
opens a new avenue for research in Petra, that
is, the comparative study of the Nabataean royal
quarters within a larger framework of similar
structures in the Hellenistic and Roman worlds.

Bibliography

Bachmann, W., Watzinger, C. and Wiegand, T. 1921.
Petra. (Wissenschaftliche Veroffentlichungen des
Deutsch-Tiirkischen Denkmalschutz-Kommandos,
Heft 3). Berlin/Leipzig: Walter de Gruyter and Co.

Bedal, L.-A. 2003. The Petra Pool-Complex. A Hellenis-
tic Paradeisos in the Nabataean Capital (Results
from the Petra “Lower Market” Survey and Exca-
vations, 1998). Piscataway: Gorgias Press.

Bellwald, U. 2008. The Hydraulic Infrastructure of Pe-
tra — A Model for Water Strategies in Arid Lands.
Pages 47-94 in Ch. Ohlih (ed.), Cura Aquarum in
Jordanien. Proceedings of the 13t International
Conference on the History of Water Management
and Hydraulic Engineering in the Mediterranean
Region, Petra/Amman 31 March — 09 April 2007.
Siegburg: Books on Demand GmbH.

Brinnow, R.E., and von Domaszewski, A. 1904. Die
Provincia Arabia, 1. Die Romerstrasse von Mddebd
tiber Petra und Odruh bis el-Akaba. Strassburg:
Triibner.

Dalman, G. 1908. Petra und seine Felsheiligtiimer.
Leipzig: Hinrich’sche Buchhandlung.

Funck, B. 1996. Beobachtungen zum Begriff des
Herrscherpalastes und seiner machtpolitischen
Funktion im hellenistischen Raum. Prolegom-
ena zur Typologie der hellenistischen Herrschafts-
sprache. Pp. 44-55 in W. Hoepfner and G. Brands
(eds.), Basileia. Die Paldste der hellenistischen Ko-
nige. Mayence: Philipp von Zabern.

Gunsam, E. 1997. Die nordliche Hubta-Wasserleitung.
Pp. 319-329 in M. Lindner (ed.), Petra und das
Konigreich der Nabatder. Lebensraum, Geschichte
und Kultur eines arabischen Volkes der Antike, 6t
edition. Munich and Bad Windsheim: Delp.

Giinther, R. T. 1913. Pausilypon. The Imperial Villa near
Naples. With a Description of the

Submerged Foreshore and with Observations on the
Tomb of Virgil and on Other Roman Antiquities on
Posilipo. Oxford: University Press.

Held, W. 2002. Die Residenzstidte der Seleukiden.
Babylon, Seleukeia am Tigris, Ai Khanum, Seleu-
keia in Pieria, Antiocheia am Orontes. Jahrbuch des
Deutschen Archdologischen Instituts 117: 217-249.

Hesberg, H. v. 2005. Nutzung und Zurschaustellung von
Wasser in der Domitiansvilla von Castel Gandolfo.
Fragmente der Ausstattung von Brunnen und Was-
serkiinste. Jahrbuch des deutschen Archédologischen
Instituts 120: 373-420.

Hesberg, H. v. 2009. Le ville imperiali dei Flavi: Alba-
num Domitiani Pp. 326-333 in F. Coarelli (ed.), Di-
vus Vespasianus. 1l bimillenario dei Flavi. Milano:
Montadori Electa

Hoepfner, W. 1996. Zum Typus der Basileia und der
koniglichen Andrones. Pp. 1-43 in W. Hoepfner
and G. Brands (eds.), Basileia. Die Paldste der hel-
lenistischen Konige. Mayence: Philipp von Zabern.

—— 1999. Alexandria. Die erste griechische GroBstadt.
Pp. 455-471 in W. Hoepfner (ed.), Geschichte des
Wohnens, 1. 5000 v.Chr. — 500 n.Chr. Vorgeschichte,
Friihgeschichte, Antike. Stuttgart: Deutsche Ver-
lags-Anstalt.

Kolb, B. 2003. Petra — From Tent to Mansion: Living
on the Terraces of Ez-Zantur. Pp. 230-237 in G.
Markoe (ed.), Petra Rediscovered. Lost City of the
Nabataeans. New York: Harry N. Abrams Inc., Pub-
lishers.

—— 2007. Nabataean Private Architecture. Pp. 145-172
in K. D. Politis (ed.), The World of the Nabataeans.
International Conference “The World of the Herods
and the Nabataecans” held at the British Museum,
17-19 April 2001, vol. 2. Stuttgart: Steiner.

—— 2012. Nabatidische Wohnarchitektur. Die Aus-
grabungen der Universitdt Basel auf dem Hiigel ez-
Zantur in Petra. Pages 231-243 in S. G. Schmid (ed.),
Petra. Begleitbuch zur Ausstellung ,, Petra - Wunder
in der Wiiste. Auf den Spuren von J. L. Burckhardt
alias Scheich Ibrahim . Basel: Schwabe.

Kropp, A.J.M. 2009. Nabataean Petra: the Royal Palace
and the Herod Connection. Boreas 32: 43-59.
Lindner, M., Knauf, E., Hiibl, J. and Zeitler, J. P. 1997. An
Iron Age (Edomite) occupation of Jabal al-Khubtha
(Petra) and other discoveries on the “mountain of
treachery and deceit”. Annual of the Department of

Antiquities of Jordan 41: 177-188.

Liverani, P. 2008. La villa di Domiziano a Castel Gan-
dolfo. Pp. 53-60 in M. Valenti (ed.), Residenze
imperiali nel Lazio. Atti della Giornata di Studio,
Monte Porzio Catone. 3 aprile 2004. Monte Porzio
Catone: Libreria Cavour.

McKenzie, J. 1990. The Architecture of Petra. Oxford:
Oxford University Press.

—— 2007. The Architecture of Alexandria and Egypt.
300 BC —AD 700. New Haven and London: Yale
University Press.

Musil, A. 1907. Arabia Petraea, 1I. Edom. Topogra-
phischer Reisebericht, 1. Teil. Vienna: Holder.

— 762 —



Negev, A. 1973. The Staircase-Tower in Nabatacan Ar-
chitecture. Revue Biblique 80: 364—382.

Nehmé, L. 1997. L’espace cultuel de Pétra a 1’époque
nabatéenne. Topoi 7: 1023—-1067.

Netzer, E. 1991. Masada, 1II. The Buildings. Stratigra-
phy and Architecture. Jerusalem: Israel Exploration
Society.

—— 2001. Hasmonean and Herodian Palaces at Jeri-
cho. Final Reports of the 1973—1987 Excavations,
1 Stratigraphy and Architecture. Jerusalem: Israel
Exploration Society.

—— 2009. Palaces and Planning of Complexes in Herod’s
Realm. Pp. 171-180 in D.M. Jacobson and N. Kok-
kinos (eds.), Herod and Augustus. Papers Presented
at the IJS Conference, 21st-23rd June 2005. Leiden:
Brill.

Nielsen, 1. 1994. Hellenistic Palaces. Tradition and Re-
newal. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.

Petra National Trust. 2004. Siq al-Mudhlim Study Sur-
vey, 2002. Annual of the Department of Antiquities
of Jordan 48: 117-140.

A PALATIAL QUARTER IN PETRA

Schluntz, E.L. 1999. From Royal to Public Assembly
Space: The Transformation of the “Great Temple”
Complex at Petra, Jordan. (PhD Dissertation,
Brown University, Providence). Ann Arbor: UMI.

Schmid, S. G. 2009. Uberlegungen zum Grundriss und
zum Funktionieren nabatdischer Grabkomplexe in
Petra. Zeitschrift des Deutschen Paldstina-Vereins
125: 139-170.

Schmid, S. G., Bienkowski, P., Fiema, Z. T., and Kolb,
B. 2012. The Palaces of the Nabatacan Kings at Pe-
tra. Pp. 73-98 in L. Nehmé and L. Wadeson (eds.),
The Nabataeans in Focus: Current Archaeological
Research at Petra. Supplement to the Proceedings
of the Seminar of Arabian Studies 42. Oxford: Ar-
chaeopress.

Varriale, I. 2007. La villa imperiale di Pausilypon. Pp.
147-165 in R. Ciarello (ed.), La villa romana. Na-
ples: L’Orientale.

Vossing, K. 2004. Mensa regia. Das Bankett beim hel-
lenistischen Kénig und beim rémischen Kaiser. Mu-
nich/Leipzig: K.G. Saur.

— 763 —






